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OVERVIEW 

On January 31, 2020, a Local Landmark Designation Application for the listing of 1180 Central 
Avenue in the St. Petersburg Register of Historic Places (Appendix A) was submitted to the Urban 
Planning and Historic Preservation Division by the owner Blake Whitney Thompson. The owner 
has also applied for an Ad Valorem Tax Exemption-Historic, which is processed and approved by 
City Staff, pending the outcome of the designation application. Ad valorem tax exemption for 
historic properties is a local program for qualifying residential or non-residential historic 
properties that exempts the increased value of a qualifying rehabilitation project from ad-
valorem property taxes for a ten-year period. There is presently no cap to the calculable 
rehabilitation expenses exempted. This benefit applies to property that is individually listed in 
the National Register of Historic Places, is designated individually as a Local Historic Landmark, 
or is identified as a contributing resource within a National Register Historic District or local 
historic district. 

NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND 

Narrative Description 

The subject property is largely characterized by its eclectic blend of Italian and Spanish Revival 
and Art Deco styles. The building is a one-story masonry structure on a concrete slab foundation 
that has a rectangular footprint with a front-gabled roof located behind a parapet with a highly 
decorative mansard roof. As indicated by historic photographs, the mansard roof was historically 
covered with wood shingles that were replaced at a later time with asphalt shingles. As part of 
the rehabilitation project, the owner has installed new wood shingles to restore the look of the 
building. 

Below the mansard roof is highly ornate decorative brackets. Between the bottom of each 
bracket is a light bulb with a rectangular surround made of a textured egg and dart molding. 
Below the modillion is a row of the same textured egg and dart molding followed by a row of 
dentil molding. A decorative, recessed signboard is also situated below the modillion. The 
building has a primary storefront with a single door centered between two large display windows. 
Above the doorway is a wide fixed transom window that is made of a configuration of small, 
square glass panes with thin muntins. 

On the front façade, the building is flanked by vertical projections with geometric detailing. 
Stucco is used to create a decorative banding, highlighting the vertical and curved features of the 
building. A large plaque with the relief of a woman’s head is a signature feature on the eastern 
portion of the front façade. Historic photographs indicate that the relief is not original to the 
building and was added later. The eastern portion of the building also has a takeout window with 
two historic, wood transom windows above. It appears this portion of the building was enclosed 
at some point, as a curb detail indicates this area was used for automobiles. Staff suspects that 
it was enclosed when the building was converted into retail and no longer served automobiles.  

The western and rear elevations are utilitarian in design, featuring few architectural details and 
fenestrations. The eastern elevation is attached to the neighboring Monroe Building at 1126 
Central Avenue, and therefore, not visible. 
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Figure 1: Front façade 

 

Figure 2: Bottom of Mansard roof, showing the 
decorative brackets, frieze, and lightbulbs 

 

Figure 3: Vertical projection with geometric details 
and central motif 

 

Figure 4: Curb detail, showing the automobile 
entrance that has been enclosed 

 

Figure 5: Altered portion of the front façade which 
used to be an automobile entrance 

 

Figure 6: West elevation of building 
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Primary Character-Defining Features 

• Mansard roof with exposed, carved brackets and lightbulbs; 

• Decorative frieze with modillions, textured egg and dart molding, and dentils; 

• Decorative signboard; 

• Pedestrian-oriented, low-scale building; 

• Storefront system with a single door, two large display windows, and transoms; 

• Vertical projections with geometric details and motifs;  

• Stucco exterior; 

• Curb detail from building’s early automotive use; 

• Water table 

Historical Context 

In 1875, Michigan native General John Williams purchased 2,500 acres of land on the southeast 
portion of what is now Pinellas County. General Williams’ vision of beautiful parks and broad 
street would be later realized when Peter Demens, a Russian aristocrat from St. Petersburg, 
Russia extended the Orange Belt Railway to Williams’ property.1 Demens named the city after his 
birthplace, St. Petersburg, Russia. 

Another early speculator, Jacob Baum settled in a nearby area the following year, obtaining 80 
acres from the state and building a home on the south side of Mirror Lake. He planted an orange 
grove, later known as Jackson Grove, which extended across Central Avenue at the railroad tracks 
from 9th Street east to a point approximately between 6th and 7th Streets. With the Demens 
railroad extension plans in place, E.R. Ward came to the 9th Street section, opening a general 
store in 1885 at 9th Street and 1st Avenue South. St. Petersburg’s first store operated out of a 
rundown structure that had been initially built as a gathering place for the settlers of the 
peninsular. Surrounding it were a few ramshackle domiciles for track laborers. Ward made a 
partnership arrangement with Baum, having purchased five acres from him that were platted as 
the Ward and Baum Addition, recorded on April 4, 1888. The development efforts may have built 
on the earlier promotion of the general area at the 1885 annual convention of the American 
Medical Association by Dr. W.C. Van Bibber, who pronounced “Point Pinellas” as the perfect 
location for a “Health City.” 

On June 8, 1888, the first train of the speculative railroad arrived after belabored financial efforts. 
A portion of the historic Orange Belt Railway ran through the area, now known as the Edge 
District, along what is now the Pinellas Trail. The railway brought growth to the fledgling area. 
Ward and Baum did a lively business selling lots available before the Williams-Demens plat was 
finally recorded in August of that year. In addition, the pair were able to sell clear titles as General 
Williams nor the railroad could not offer such security do due to construction debts. The Ward 
and Baum plat also differed from the St. Petersburg plat developed by Williams and the railroad 
company in that lots were smaller and the roads only 50 feet wide. 

                                                      

1 The following historical context was primarily written by Laura Lee Corbett for a historic structure survey of the 
Edge District prepared for the Florida Division of Historical Resources in 2016. 
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The first lot in the Ward and Baum plat was sold to W.A. Sloan, who later became postmaster. 
Prices for lots ranged from $20 to $60, sums considerably more affordable than what was 
subsequently asked for lots “downtown”. Thus began a rivalry between “uptown” and 
“downtown” St. Petersburg. The post office operated in Ward’s general store by Ella E. Ward in 
1888 was moved in 1891 halfway to “downtown” when she was succeeded by D.W. Meeker as 
postmaster. In the following year, a school was built at another halfway point as well. 

The 1890 federal census recorded 273 inhabitants, most of whom lived around 9th Street, 
presumably on the east side of the street. The area around 9th Street developed faster than did 
downtown St. Petersburg and was considered more fashionable for a time, with some of the best 
homes located in the vicinity. During this period of growth, St. Petersburg incorporated as a town 
on March 4, 1892. Central Avenue, then named 6th Avenue, opened up between 1st and 9th 
Streets in 1894, but to only 50 feet wide through the Ward and Baum’s Addition. 

Finally, St. Petersburg incorporated as a city in June 1903. In the same year, 6th Avenue’s name 
was changed to Central Avenue and Railroad Avenue was formally renamed 1st Avenue South. 
Central Avenue was deemed the dividing line of the new city by naming avenues in accordance 
to their position north or south of Central. By the spring of 1906, Central Avenue was beginning 
to be widened and straightened to 9th Street. These efforts made the section in the Ward and 
Baum plat to conform to the 100-foot width of the remainder of the street as initially platted by 
Williams. The project was completed by 1909 with an approved $8,000 bond issue, though met 
with opposition from citizens who felt it a waste of money to make a wide thoroughfare beyond 
6th Street. 

Further extension of Central Avenue west of 9th Street to Boca Ceiga was championed by local 
businessman H. Walter Fuller of the St. Petersburg Investment Company. With enthusiasm lacked 
by his fellow citizens, Philadelphia investors of the F.A. Davis Companies financed Fuller’s plan 
with the creation of the John’s Pass Realty Company in order to acquire the required land. Large 
tracts were purchased between 1909 and 1912. By 1911 the John Pass Realty Company had 
acquired properties up to 16th Street. Anticipating further demand, the land between 9th and 16th 
Streets was divided into smaller holdings with higher prices. Fuller and E.V. Pechin organized the 
Central Land & Title Company for the purpose of acquiring these key properties and within 
months purchased a half mile strip from 50 different property owners for the sizeable sum of 
$175,000. 

As head of the electric light company, Fuller was also instrumental in building a new power plant 
at 16th Street and 1st Avenue North, still a function of this property today. In addition, he was 
responsible for the street railway tracks extension from seven to 23 miles. The district was 
becoming more industrial, arising around the Atlantic Coast Line Railroad hub, with lumberyards, 
sawmills, livestock barns, garages, and hardware suppliers. 

The district also became the home to manufactories and the inexpensive housing for support 
workers, many of whom were African American. Reportedly, blacks had been living in the area 
since the late 1890s in an area called “Coopers Quarters.” These dozen shacks built by L.B. Cooper 
were located on 9th Street between the railroad and 2nd Avenue South. This section south of 
Central Avenue had poor drainage, swampy topography and the railroad. Due to these factors, 
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property values in the district remained low just as downtown was becoming more established. 
Fashionable homes were constructed on more desirable higher ground on the north side of 
Central Avenue. 

A “boomlet” of development occurred in St. Petersburg from 1912 to 1914. More African 
Americans were attracted to the area for employment on public improvements that included 
paving streets, laying sewers, and developing parks. During this time, many settled around the 
district in areas called “Methodist Town,” just north of Central and west of 9th Street, and in the 
south Booker Creek “valley.” “Pepper Town” was established earlier by African Americans 
employed to construct the railroad and their families. It was located on 4th Avenue South 
between 7th and 9th Streets, just south of the railroad tracks. A Methodist Episcopal church 
appears on the 1899 Sanborn map on 6th Avenue between 7th and 6th Streets. The 1908 Sanborn 
map indicates Bethel Baptist and a Methodist Episcopal church on 2nd Avenue South, on either 
side of 9th Street. A “Negro public school” is shown near the corner of 2nd Avenue South and 10th 
Street South in 1913. Later in 1918, Bethel Baptist and a “Graded School (Negro)” appear on the 
corner of 3rd Avenue South and 10th Street South. African Americans made up 20% of St. 
Petersburg’s early 20th century population and mostly lived in substandard rental housing owned 
by white people. 

The municipal Gas Plant was constructed on 3rd Avenue and 12th Street South in 1914 as well. 
The two large, gas fuel tanks that towered over the neighborhood gave the district the moniker 
“The Gas Plant.” In the same year, brick pavement along Central Avenue from 16th Street to the 
bay was opened, thus opening the western boundary of thee EDGE district. Just a half block north 
of Central Avenue, Baum Avenue (formerly 5th Avenue) led the westward development in the 
District, with a variety of businesses (many industrial, but also retail and a hotel) and residences 
as shown in the 1918 Sanborn map. 

A year later, World War I brought about a local depression and shortly after the war, and several 
local efforts were made to address the slum areas that had developed around the city. Little was 
achieved to condemn the substandard residences rented by African Americans from politically 
influential whites. Compounding the matter, the general public was apathetic to providing decent 
housing to the city’s “Colored” population. 

Relying on natural and recreational amenities, St. Petersburg also took strides to plan for and 
preserve these features. Supporting businesses and hoteliers met an increasing demand from 
winter visitors. In the 1920s, the state’s first big development boom brought a major influx of 
tourists who arrived by auto, railroad, and yacht. St. Petersburg was caught up in the speculation 
of the Florida Land Boom that began I 1920 and peaked in 1925, when the city building permits 
for the year totaled $24 million in construction and local banks held $46 million in deposits. 

Within the district, the early 1920s was a time of great growth expanding westward. In 1921, the 
9th Street Bank and Trust Company occupied its new building at the northeast corner of 9th and 
Central. In the same year, Starr and Melody, a company specializing in vulcanizing and retreading 
tires, moved across the street advertising that they were “Moving to our new and commodious 
headquarters at the corner of Baum and 9th Street North.” In 1923, Smalley Company Battery 
Shop extended their plant at 1120 Central Avenue and enlarged their showroom. These 
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companies contributed to the significant early cluster of automotive businesses that would 
occupy the district for years to come. Central Avenue further developed with an influx of new 
buildings, catching up with Baum Avenue as indicated by the 1923 Sanborn map. However, Baum 
continued to be considered the main thoroughfare as demonstrated by a large Halloween parade 
held there in 1928. 

By 1924, an estimated 26,000 people lived in St. Petersburg, a figure that would grow to 40,425 
by 1930. The influx in capital also brought public improvements including the 1924 opening of 
the Gandy Bridge, cutting travel time to Tampa by more than half and positioning St. Petersburg 
to become Pinellas County’s largest city. Hotel rooms increased from 675 in 1905 to 7,000 in 1925 
after the construction of ten major new hotels in St. Petersburg and the surrounding area. Within 
the district, smaller, more modest hotels proliferated such as the Wilmer Hotel, constructed in 
1926 for August Hilton. A 1927 advertisement touted a “European Plan” for the Hotel Gregory 
and “steam heat and bath in each room” at the Wilmer Hotel. 

By 1924, the height of the Boom was evident in the district when an advertisement by 
Stephenson Realty read “Baum Avenue is to be paved” offering a 50 x 167 lot for $21,000 “that 
will double in value when this improvement is made.” 

The following year, Smitz Realty offered “$1,000 per foot on one end of proposed new 1st Avenue 
North and other end of lot 50 x 114 between 11th and 13th Streets.” However by the mid-1920s, 
this frenzied development came to a halt. The real estate boom crashed between 1926 and 1927 
in St. Petersburg with construction virtually ceasing, although the tourist trade continued 
unabated until the 1930 season. By 1930, there were more than 140 hotels in St. Petersburg. The 
Great Depression was evident when the private sector failed to develop any major hotels in lower 
Pinellas County between 1926 and 1939. 

St. Petersburg recovered, though, thanks to large Public Works Administration projects in the 
1930s, which helped the city begin its economic recovery with $10 million in new investment. St. 
Petersburg’s City Hall was built with New Deal federal funds in 1939. Progressive local efforts 
finally gained some momentum to provide decent housing for people in the lowest income group. 
This was largely due to the U.S Housing Authority financing low cost housing projects throughout 
the country at this time. 

During the Depression, the district became home to a number of furniture businesses. Wilson 
Mattress Manufacturing Company purchased 1126 Central Avenue in 1937 for $20,000. In 1940 
Wilson Brothers Bedding and Furniture advertised that “We are out of the high rent district, own 
our own building,” thus reinforcing the lower land value in this industrial and commercial area. 
St. Petersburg continued to grow during this period, as the permanent population reached 
60,812 in 1940, filling the vacant structures and lots created during the boom era. 

It wasn’t until 1944 that the city regrouped efforts to open 1st Avenue North, as was touted nearly 
20 years before. The city purchased the White House Inn on Baum and partially demolished it in 
order to open 1st Avenue North from 9th Street to 11th Street. In the same year, WWII further 
contributed to the growth of the district with the establishment of the Consumers Cold Storage 
and Locker Company on Baum Avenue.  
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Further speculative construction was taking place as O.J. Stewart constructed 1045 Central in 
1946 for $12,000 as a store on the first story with residential above. 

After WWII, St. Petersburg, Pinellas County, and the Gulf Beaches grew rapidly, spurred by 
several factors. Wartime frugality and restrictions lifted, creating a postwar boom unrivaled by 
the 1920s. Furthermore, many soldiers who had trained in the area returned with their families 
to settle down or as tourists. The advent of air conditioning brought a considerable amount of 
housing for retirees with steady sources of income from social security payments and private 
retirement pensions. The convergence of these factors unleashed the most spectacular growth 
in the history of Pinellas County during the 1950s with many of the servicemen who trained 
locally returning to work in the construction and service industries. The local American Veterans 
(AMVETS) chapter was located in the district at this time. 

During this mid-20th century period, downtown began to lose tourists to the new motels along 
the nearby Gulf beaches. Retail shops moved from the urban core to suburban shopping malls 
like Central Plaza and Tyrone Gardens Shopping Center. The streetcar tracks were removed 
downtown to make way for automobiles. Major infrastructure improvements were occurring in 
the region that would hasten the development of Pinellas County and St. Petersburg. In 1954, 
the first span of the Sunshine Skyway opened, connecting Pinellas with Manatee County and 
replacing the outdated Bee Line Ferry Service at Pinellas Point in southern St. Petersburg. The 
Howard Frankland Bridge opened in 1960, connecting Hillsborough County with Pinellas County. 
Finally in 1962, the Pinellas Bayway connected mainland Pinellas with the beaches at its 
southernmost point, and opened for more intensive development many of the “finger” fills of 
land created during the dredging of Boca Ciega Bay in the 1950s. 

Despite these sprawling developments, the area’s African American population was compressed 
to the areas of the Gas Plant and Methodist Town. 

The 1960s brought more public improvements to St. Petersburg, such as the construction of the 
Municipal Marina, the Museum of Fine Arts, the Main Library, and the Bayfront Center. The first 
desegregation of Pinellas schools occurred in 1961 when black students were admitted to St. 
Petersburg Junior College, then operated by the Pinellas School Board. In 1964 a group of black 
parents, along with the NAACP Legal Defense Fund, filed a suit against the School Board 
demanding an end to segregated education. The suit noted that only 200 of the county's 10,000 
black students were attending schools with white students. In the following year, U.S. District 
Judge Joseph P. Lieb ordered the desegregation of Pinellas County schools. However, segregated 
areas were still indicated on the 1967 Sanborn maps, including the nearby 1st Baptist Institutional 
Church (Colored) at 3rd Avenue South and 16th Street. During this period, the district was 
composed of car dealerships, finance companies and automotive repair shops. 

The early 1970s, I-275 was extended closer to the downtown area. The 1970s also saw the 
beginning of St. Petersburg's quest for construction of a multi-purpose domed stadium. In July of 
1986, the St. Petersburg City Council voted 6-3 to build a new baseball stadium, which later 
became Tropicana Field. Construction of the stadium displaced the largely African-American 
population of the area. Due to proximity to Tropicana Field’s domed stadium, the area was 
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labeled "The Dome District" at this time. Redevelopment opportunities intensified after the 
successful acquisition of the Tampa Bay Devil Rays Major League Baseball franchise. 

1180 Central Avenue – Smalley-Green Auto Building 

Built in 1921 by Bob C. Smalley and Tom 
G. Green, the Smalley-Green Auto 
Building was constructed as an electrical 
service station that specialized in 
automobile electrical equipment. 
Designed by local architect William S. 
Shull, the building was constructed with 
a “Spanish architectural idea.”2 Shull was 
a young and upcoming architect, who 
supervised the building of the Alexander 
Hotel (535 Central Avenue) and designed 
the Rutland Estate (5030 Sunrise Drive 
South). Unfortunately, he died in 1922 in 
an automobile accident.3 The structure 
was built by contractor Charles Du Bois, 
who declared, “I believe I have built for the Smalley-Green Company the most attractive 
exclusively electrical service station in the south. Their building and equipment is a credit to St. 
Petersburg.”4 

Former schoolmates, Smalley and Green formed the Smalley-Green Company in 1921. Smalley 
had a background in real estate, having been in development with Perry Snell and Green had the 
background in electrical work.5 They selected an area just west of a burgeoning automotive 
center at 9th Street and Central Avenue. By 1923, the few buildings on the 1100, 1200, and 1300 
block of Central Avenue were primarily auto-focused enterprises. 1200 Central Avenue was used 
as an automobile painting shop.6 1101 Central Avenue was a battery service station, and 1300 
Central Avenue was an automobile garage.7 Soon after opening in 1921, Smalley-Green Company 
expanded their services to sell automobiles, such as the Hupmobile.8 Their partnership was short 
lived, and by 1923, the Bob C. Smalley Company was operating at 1180 Central Avenue. 

The Bob C. Smalley Company operated at that location until the end of 1924 when Smalley 
identified 4th Street North as a potential automobile row. Considered a pioneer in the field, he 
built a new automobile showroom building at 4th Street North and 18th Avenue North and 

                                                      

2 “New Electric Firm Formed,” St. Petersburg Times, October 27, 1921. 
3 “Burn Signs Affidavit,” St. Petersburg Times, August 26, 1922. 
4 “We Beg to Announce the Opening of the Smalley-Green Company,” St. Petersburg Times, December 18, 1921. 
5 “New Electric Firm Formed,” St. Petersburg Times, October 27, 1921. 

“Bob C. Smalley is One of the Pioneers in the Field,” St. Petersburg Times, December 20, 1925. 
6 “We Do It All,” St. Petersburg Times, November 16, 1919. 
7 1923 Sanborn map, Sheet 1.  
8 “No Closed Car Offers Finer Luxury,” St. Petersburg Times, November 12, 1922. 

Figure 7: Undated photograph of 1180 Central Avenue. 
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experienced great success as 4th Street North developed after the completion of the Gandy 
Bridge.9 

1180 Central Avenue continued to be used as various automotive purposes – a showroom, 
service shop, auto glass work – until 1934 when Art Tex Paint Company began operating there. 
Art Tex remained at that location until the early 1950s. For the rest of the 20th century, the 
building operated as various stores and offices, such as a furniture store, gun shop, and as the 
Kennedy-Johnson headquarters in 1960. Throughout the years, the building has had few physical 
changes, retaining a high level of integrity. 

STAFF FINDINGS 

In St. Petersburg, eligibility for the local Register of Historic Places is based on evaluations of age, 
context, and integrity under a two-part test as found in Section 16.30.070.2.5(D) of the City Code. 
Historic documentation demonstrates that the subject property was built in 1921, approximately 
99 years ago, surpassing the minimum required age of 50.  

Further, staff recommends listing under Criteria E and F. Staff recommends listing under the 
Areas of Significance of Architecture, Community Planning and Development, and Commerce. 
Staff recommends listing the subject property with a Period of Significance of 1921 through 1970. 
Six of seven factors of integrity are met overall. 

Historic Significance and Satisfaction of Eligibility Criteria 

The first portion of the two-part test to determine eligibility for the St. Petersburg Register of 
Historic Places examines a resource’s historic significance with relation to nine (9) criteria. One 
or more of these criteria must be met in order for a property to qualify for designation as an 
individual landmark or district to be placed in the St. Petersburg Register. The nine (9) criteria are 
based off of the National Park Service’s criteria for placement in the National Register of Historic 
Places, and are designed to assess resources’ importance in a given historic context with 
objectivity and comprehensiveness. In the case of the proposed Smalley Green Auto Building, 
nomination documentation suggests that the property satisfies two (2) of the St. Petersburg 
Register criteria as follows. 

Is at least one of the following criteria for eligibility met? 

A B C D E F G H I 

- - - - Yes Yes - - - 

E) Its value as a building is recognized for the quality of its architecture, and it retains sufficient 
elements showing its architectural significance;  

As noted above, the subject property contains a unique blend of architectural styles – Italian and 
Spanish Revival with elements of Art Deco. The building was designed by an up-and-coming 
architect, William S. Shull, whose life was cut short in an automobile accident following the 
completion of this structure.  1180 Central Avenue is considered to be one of the most 

                                                      

9 “Bob C. Smalley is One of the Pioneers in the Field,” St. Petersburg Times, December 20, 1925. 
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architecturally interesting buildings in the Edge District.10 It was unusual for a building that was 
constructed as an automotive shop to have been designed with such a high level of architectural 
style and detail. The eclectic blend of these different styles and details has created a building that 
has no equivalent in terms of architectural style. 

The building still retains much of its original fabric and design, such as the storefront system, the 
mansard roof, with its decorative brackets and highly ornate stucco details, such as the textured 
egg and dart molding and dentil molding.  

F) It has distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period, 
method of construction, or use of indigenous materials;  

As noted, the subject property was constructed in an eclectic blend of Italian and Spanish Revival 
and Art Deco architecture. The structure represents 1920s Florida Land Boom era development 
and demonstrates a very unique blend of the Mediterranean style of architecture that was 
commonly utilized during this period. 

Historic Integrity 

Per St. Petersburg’s Code of Ordinances’ Historic and Archaeological Preservation Overlay, 
Section 16.30.070.2.5, seven factors of integrity shall be considered once an individual resource 
or district is determined to meet one or more of the criteria for historic significance. However, 
because of their subjective nature, integrity of feeling and association, without meeting at least 
one other factor, are insufficient for designation. As shown below, the property meets six of the 
seven factors of integrity. 

Is at least one of the following factors of integrity met? 

Location Design Setting Materials Workmanship Feeling* Association* 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No 
*Must be present in addition to at least one other factor. 

 

The building retains a high level of integrity. The single area in which integrity has been somewhat 
diminished is Association; this is due to the fact that the property is no longer used as an 
automotive-centric shop. By 1934, the building was operating as a paint store and remained in 
that use for almost two decades. From the 1950s to today, the building served as various retail 
stores and office spaces. In the past few months, the building was converted into a restaurant. 

PROPERTY OWNER CONSENT AND IMPACT OF DESIGNATION 

The proposed local landmark designation was submitted and is supported by the subject 
property’s owner. 

The benefits of designation include increased heritage tourism through the maintenance of the 
historic character and significance of the city, some relief from the requirements of the Florida 

                                                      

10 Corbett, Laura Lee. “Historic Structures Survey of the Edge District, St. Petersburg, Florida.” Prepared for the 
Florida Division of Historical Resources. 2016. Page 20. 
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Building Code and FEMA regulations, and tax incentives, such as the local ad valorem tax 
exemption and federal tax credit for qualified rehabilitation projects. 

CONSISTENCY WITH ST. PETERSBURG’S COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, EXISTING LAND USE PLAN, AND 
FUTURE LAND USE PLAN 

The proposed local historic landmark designation is consistent with the City’s Comprehensive 
Plan, relating to the protection, use and adaptive reuse of historic buildings. The local landmark 
designation will not affect the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) or zoning designations, nor will it 
significantly constrain any existing or future plans for the development of the City. The proposed 
landmark designation is consistent with the following objectives: 

Objective LU10:  The historic resources locally designated by the St. Petersburg City Council and 
Community Planning and Preservation Commission (CPPC) shall be 
incorporated onto the Land Use Map or map series at the time of original 
adoption, or through the amendment process, and protected from 
development and redevelopment activities consistent with the provisions of 
the Historic Preservation Element and the Historic Preservation Ordinance. 

Policy LU10.1:  Decisions regarding the designation of historic resources shall be based on the 
criteria and policies outlined in the Historic Preservation Ordinance and the 
Historic Preservation Element of the Comprehensive Plan. 

Policy HP2.3:  The City shall provide technical assistance to applications for designation of 
historic structures and districts.  

Policy HP2.6:  Decisions regarding the designation of historic resources shall be based on 
National Register eligibility criteria and policies outlined in the Historic 
Preservation Ordinance and the Comprehensive Plan. The City will use the 
following selection criteria [for City-initiated landmark designations] as a 
guideline for Staff recommendations to the CPC and City Council: 

• National Register or DOE status 
• Prominence/importance related to the City 
• Prominence/importance related to the neighborhood 
• Degree of threat to the landmark 
• Condition of the landmark 
• Degree of owner support 

RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends approval to add the Smalley-Green Auto Building to the St. Petersburg 
Register of Historic Places, thereby referring the application of City Council for first and second 
reading and public hearing. 
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	OVERVIEW


	On January 31, 2020, a Local Landmark Designation Application for the listing of 1180 Central

Avenue in the St. Petersburg Register of Historic Places (Appendix A) was submitted to the Urban

Planning and Historic Preservation Division by the owner Blake Whitney Thompson. The owner

has also applied for an Ad Valorem Tax Exemption-Historic, which is processed and approved by

City Staff, pending the outcome of the designation application. Ad valorem tax exemption for

historic properties is a local program for qualifying residential or non-residential historic

properties that exempts the increased value of a qualifying rehabilitation project from ad�valorem property taxes for a ten-year period. There is presently no cap to the calculable

rehabilitation expenses exempted. This benefit applies to property that is individually listed in

the National Register of Historic Places, is designated individually as a Local Historic Landmark,

or is identified as a contributing resource within a National Register Historic District or local

historic district.


	NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION AND BACKGROUND


	Narrative Description


	The subject property is largely characterized by its eclectic blend of Italian and Spanish Revival

and Art Deco styles. The building is a one-story masonry structure on a concrete slab foundation

that has a rectangular footprint with a front-gabled roof located behind a parapet with a highly

decorative mansard roof. As indicated by historic photographs, the mansard roof was historically

covered with wood shingles that were replaced at a later time with asphalt shingles. As part of

the rehabilitation project, the owner has installed new wood shingles to restore the look of the

building.


	Below the mansard roof is highly ornate decorative brackets. Between the bottom of each

bracket is a light bulb with a rectangular surround made of a textured egg and dart molding.

Below the modillion is a row of the same textured egg and dart molding followed by a row of

dentil molding. A decorative, recessed signboard is also situated below the modillion. The

building has a primary storefront with a single door centered between two large display windows.

Above the doorway is a wide fixed transom window that is made of a configuration of small,

square glass panes with thin muntins.


	On the front façade, the building is flanked by vertical projections with geometric detailing.

Stucco is used to create a decorative banding, highlighting the vertical and curved features of the

building. A large plaque with the relief of a woman’s head is a signature feature on the eastern

portion of the front façade. Historic photographs indicate that the relief is not original to the

building and was added later. The eastern portion of the building also has a takeout window with

two historic, wood transom windows above. It appears this portion of the building was enclosed

at some point, as a curb detail indicates this area was used for automobiles. Staff suspects that

it was enclosed when the building was converted into retail and no longer served automobiles.


	The western and rear elevations are utilitarian in design, featuring few architectural details and

fenestrations. The eastern elevation is attached to the neighboring Monroe Building at 1126

Central Avenue, and therefore, not visible.
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	Figure
	Figure 1: Front façade 

	 
	 
	Figure
	Figure 2: Bottom of Mansard roof, showing the

decorative brackets, frieze, and lightbulbs





	 
	 
	 
	 
	Figure
	Figure 3: Vertical projection with geometric details

and central motif



	 
	 
	Figure
	Figure 4: Curb detail, showing the automobile

entrance that has been enclosed




	 
	 
	 
	Figure
	Figure 5: Altered portion of the front façade which

used to be an automobile entrance



	 
	 
	Figure
	Figure 6: West elevation of building




	Primary Character-Defining Features


	• Mansard roof with exposed, carved brackets and lightbulbs;


	• Mansard roof with exposed, carved brackets and lightbulbs;


	• Mansard roof with exposed, carved brackets and lightbulbs;



	• Decorative frieze with modillions, textured egg and dart molding, and dentils;


	• Decorative frieze with modillions, textured egg and dart molding, and dentils;



	• Decorative signboard;


	• Decorative signboard;



	• Pedestrian-oriented, low-scale building;


	• Pedestrian-oriented, low-scale building;



	• Storefront system with a single door, two large display windows, and transoms;


	• Storefront system with a single door, two large display windows, and transoms;



	• Vertical projections with geometric details and motifs;


	• Vertical projections with geometric details and motifs;



	• Stucco exterior;


	• Stucco exterior;



	• Curb detail from building’s early automotive use;


	• Curb detail from building’s early automotive use;



	• Water table


	• Water table




	Historical Context


	In 1875, Michigan native General John Williams purchased 2,500 acres of land on the southeast

portion of what is now Pinellas County. General Williams’ vision of beautiful parks and broad

street would be later realized when Peter Demens, a Russian aristocrat from St. Petersburg,

Russia extended the Orange Belt Railway to Williams’ property.1 Demens named the city after his

birthplace, St. Petersburg, Russia.


	1 The following historical context was primarily written by Laura Lee Corbett for a historic structure survey of the

Edge District prepared for the Florida Division of Historical Resources in 2016.
	1 The following historical context was primarily written by Laura Lee Corbett for a historic structure survey of the

Edge District prepared for the Florida Division of Historical Resources in 2016.

	Another early speculator, Jacob Baum settled in a nearby area the following year, obtaining 80

acres from the state and building a home on the south side of Mirror Lake. He planted an orange

grove, later known as Jackson Grove, which extended across Central Avenue at the railroad tracks

from 9th Street east to a point approximately between 6th and 7th Streets. With the Demens

railroad extension plans in place, E.R. Ward came to the 9th Street section, opening a general

store in 1885 at 9th Street and 1st Avenue South. St. Petersburg’s first store operated out of a

rundown structure that had been initially built as a gathering place for the settlers of the

peninsular. Surrounding it were a few ramshackle domiciles for track laborers. Ward made a

partnership arrangement with Baum, having purchased five acres from him that were platted as

the Ward and Baum Addition, recorded on April 4, 1888. The development efforts may have built

on the earlier promotion of the general area at the 1885 annual convention of the American

Medical Association by Dr. W.C. Van Bibber, who pronounced “Point Pinellas” as the perfect

location for a “Health City.”


	On June 8, 1888, the first train of the speculative railroad arrived after belabored financial efforts.

A portion of the historic Orange Belt Railway ran through the area, now known as the Edge

District, along what is now the Pinellas Trail. The railway brought growth to the fledgling area.

Ward and Baum did a lively business selling lots available before the Williams-Demens plat was

finally recorded in August of that year. In addition, the pair were able to sell clear titles as General

Williams nor the railroad could not offer such security do due to construction debts. The Ward

and Baum plat also differed from the St. Petersburg plat developed by Williams and the railroad

company in that lots were smaller and the roads only 50 feet wide.


	The first lot in the Ward and Baum plat was sold to W.A. Sloan, who later became postmaster.

Prices for lots ranged from $20 to $60, sums considerably more affordable than what was

subsequently asked for lots “downtown”. Thus began a rivalry between “uptown” and

“downtown” St. Petersburg. The post office operated in Ward’s general store by Ella E. Ward in

1888 was moved in 1891 halfway to “downtown” when she was succeeded by D.W. Meeker as

postmaster. In the following year, a school was built at another halfway point as well.


	The 1890 federal census recorded 273 inhabitants, most of whom lived around 9th Street,

presumably on the east side of the street. The area around 9th Street developed faster than did

downtown St. Petersburg and was considered more fashionable for a time, with some of the best

homes located in the vicinity. During this period of growth, St. Petersburg incorporated as a town

on March 4, 1892. Central Avenue, then named 6th Avenue, opened up between 1st and 9th

Streets in 1894, but to only 50 feet wide through the Ward and Baum’s Addition.


	Finally, St. Petersburg incorporated as a city in June 1903. In the same year, 6th Avenue’s name

was changed to Central Avenue and Railroad Avenue was formally renamed 1st Avenue South.

Central Avenue was deemed the dividing line of the new city by naming avenues in accordance

to their position north or south of Central. By the spring of 1906, Central Avenue was beginning

to be widened and straightened to 9th Street. These efforts made the section in the Ward and

Baum plat to conform to the 100-foot width of the remainder of the street as initially platted by

Williams. The project was completed by 1909 with an approved $8,000 bond issue, though met

with opposition from citizens who felt it a waste of money to make a wide thoroughfare beyond

6th Street.


	Further extension of Central Avenue west of 9th Street to Boca Ceiga was championed by local

businessman H. Walter Fuller of the St. Petersburg Investment Company. With enthusiasm lacked

by his fellow citizens, Philadelphia investors of the F.A. Davis Companies financed Fuller’s plan

with the creation of the John’s Pass Realty Company in order to acquire the required land. Large

tracts were purchased between 1909 and 1912. By 1911 the John Pass Realty Company had

acquired properties up to 16th Street. Anticipating further demand, the land between 9th and 16th

Streets was divided into smaller holdings with higher prices. Fuller and E.V. Pechin organized the

Central Land & Title Company for the purpose of acquiring these key properties and within

months purchased a half mile strip from 50 different property owners for the sizeable sum of

$175,000.


	As head of the electric light company, Fuller was also instrumental in building a new power plant

at 16th Street and 1st Avenue North, still a function of this property today. In addition, he was

responsible for the street railway tracks extension from seven to 23 miles. The district was

becoming more industrial, arising around the Atlantic Coast Line Railroad hub, with lumberyards,

sawmills, livestock barns, garages, and hardware suppliers.


	The district also became the home to manufactories and the inexpensive housing for support

workers, many of whom were African American. Reportedly, blacks had been living in the area

since the late 1890s in an area called “Coopers Quarters.” These dozen shacks built by L.B. Cooper

were located on 9th Street between the railroad and 2nd Avenue South. This section south of

Central Avenue had poor drainage, swampy topography and the railroad. Due to these factors,
	property values in the district remained low just as downtown was becoming more established.

Fashionable homes were constructed on more desirable higher ground on the north side of

Central Avenue.


	A “boomlet” of development occurred in St. Petersburg from 1912 to 1914. More African

Americans were attracted to the area for employment on public improvements that included

paving streets, laying sewers, and developing parks. During this time, many settled around the

district in areas called “Methodist Town,” just north of Central and west of 9th Street, and in the

south Booker Creek “valley.” “Pepper Town” was established earlier by African Americans

employed to construct the railroad and their families. It was located on 4th Avenue South

between 7th and 9th Streets, just south of the railroad tracks. A Methodist Episcopal church

appears on the 1899 Sanborn map on 6th Avenue between 7th and 6th Streets. The 1908 Sanborn

map indicates Bethel Baptist and a Methodist Episcopal church on 2nd Avenue South, on either

side of 9th Street. A “Negro public school” is shown near the corner of 2nd Avenue South and 10th

Street South in 1913. Later in 1918, Bethel Baptist and a “Graded School (Negro)” appear on the

corner of 3rd Avenue South and 10th Street South. African Americans made up 20% of St.

Petersburg’s early 20th century population and mostly lived in substandard rental housing owned

by white people.


	The municipal Gas Plant was constructed on 3rd Avenue and 12th Street South in 1914 as well.

The two large, gas fuel tanks that towered over the neighborhood gave the district the moniker

“The Gas Plant.” In the same year, brick pavement along Central Avenue from 16th Street to the

bay was opened, thus opening the western boundary of thee EDGE district. Just a half block north

of Central Avenue, Baum Avenue (formerly 5th Avenue) led the westward development in the

District, with a variety of businesses (many industrial, but also retail and a hotel) and residences

as shown in the 1918 Sanborn map.


	A year later, World War I brought about a local depression and shortly after the war, and several

local efforts were made to address the slum areas that had developed around the city. Little was

achieved to condemn the substandard residences rented by African Americans from politically

influential whites. Compounding the matter, the general public was apathetic to providing decent

housing to the city’s “Colored” population.


	Relying on natural and recreational amenities, St. Petersburg also took strides to plan for and

preserve these features. Supporting businesses and hoteliers met an increasing demand from

winter visitors. In the 1920s, the state’s first big development boom brought a major influx of

tourists who arrived by auto, railroad, and yacht. St. Petersburg was caught up in the speculation

of the Florida Land Boom that began I 1920 and peaked in 1925, when the city building permits

for the year totaled $24 million in construction and local banks held $46 million in deposits.


	Within the district, the early 1920s was a time of great growth expanding westward. In 1921, the

9th Street Bank and Trust Company occupied its new building at the northeast corner of 9th and

Central. In the same year, Starr and Melody, a company specializing in vulcanizing and retreading

tires, moved across the street advertising that they were “Moving to our new and commodious

headquarters at the corner of Baum and 9th Street North.” In 1923, Smalley Company Battery

Shop extended their plant at 1120 Central Avenue and enlarged their showroom. These
	companies contributed to the significant early cluster of automotive businesses that would

occupy the district for years to come. Central Avenue further developed with an influx of new

buildings, catching up with Baum Avenue as indicated by the 1923 Sanborn map. However, Baum

continued to be considered the main thoroughfare as demonstrated by a large Halloween parade

held there in 1928.


	By 1924, an estimated 26,000 people lived in St. Petersburg, a figure that would grow to 40,425

by 1930. The influx in capital also brought public improvements including the 1924 opening of

the Gandy Bridge, cutting travel time to Tampa by more than half and positioning St. Petersburg

to become Pinellas County’s largest city. Hotel rooms increased from 675 in 1905 to 7,000 in 1925

after the construction of ten major new hotels in St. Petersburg and the surrounding area. Within

the district, smaller, more modest hotels proliferated such as the Wilmer Hotel, constructed in

1926 for August Hilton. A 1927 advertisement touted a “European Plan” for the Hotel Gregory

and “steam heat and bath in each room” at the Wilmer Hotel.


	By 1924, the height of the Boom was evident in the district when an advertisement by

Stephenson Realty read “Baum Avenue is to be paved” offering a 50 x 167 lot for $21,000 “that

will double in value when this improvement is made.”


	The following year, Smitz Realty offered “$1,000 per foot on one end of proposed new 1st Avenue

North and other end of lot 50 x 114 between 11th and 13th Streets.” However by the mid-1920s,

this frenzied development came to a halt. The real estate boom crashed between 1926 and 1927

in St. Petersburg with construction virtually ceasing, although the tourist trade continued

unabated until the 1930 season. By 1930, there were more than 140 hotels in St. Petersburg. The

Great Depression was evident when the private sector failed to develop any major hotels in lower

Pinellas County between 1926 and 1939.


	St. Petersburg recovered, though, thanks to large Public Works Administration projects in the

1930s, which helped the city begin its economic recovery with $10 million in new investment. St.

Petersburg’s City Hall was built with New Deal federal funds in 1939. Progressive local efforts

finally gained some momentum to provide decent housing for people in the lowest income group.

This was largely due to the U.S Housing Authority financing low cost housing projects throughout

the country at this time.


	During the Depression, the district became home to a number of furniture businesses. Wilson

Mattress Manufacturing Company purchased 1126 Central Avenue in 1937 for $20,000. In 1940

Wilson Brothers Bedding and Furniture advertised that “We are out of the high rent district, own

our own building,” thus reinforcing the lower land value in this industrial and commercial area.

St. Petersburg continued to grow during this period, as the permanent population reached

60,812 in 1940, filling the vacant structures and lots created during the boom era.


	It wasn’t until 1944 that the city regrouped efforts to open 1st Avenue North, as was touted nearly

20 years before. The city purchased the White House Inn on Baum and partially demolished it in

order to open 1st Avenue North from 9th Street to 11th Street. In the same year, WWII further

contributed to the growth of the district with the establishment of the Consumers Cold Storage

and Locker Company on Baum Avenue.
	Further speculative construction was taking place as O.J. Stewart constructed 1045 Central in

1946 for $12,000 as a store on the first story with residential above.


	After WWII, St. Petersburg, Pinellas County, and the Gulf Beaches grew rapidly, spurred by

several factors. Wartime frugality and restrictions lifted, creating a postwar boom unrivaled by

the 1920s. Furthermore, many soldiers who had trained in the area returned with their families

to settle down or as tourists. The advent of air conditioning brought a considerable amount of

housing for retirees with steady sources of income from social security payments and private

retirement pensions. The convergence of these factors unleashed the most spectacular growth

in the history of Pinellas County during the 1950s with many of the servicemen who trained

locally returning to work in the construction and service industries. The local American Veterans

(AMVETS) chapter was located in the district at this time.


	During this mid-20th century period, downtown began to lose tourists to the new motels along

the nearby Gulf beaches. Retail shops moved from the urban core to suburban shopping malls

like Central Plaza and Tyrone Gardens Shopping Center. The streetcar tracks were removed

downtown to make way for automobiles. Major infrastructure improvements were occurring in

the region that would hasten the development of Pinellas County and St. Petersburg. In 1954,

the first span of the Sunshine Skyway opened, connecting Pinellas with Manatee County and

replacing the outdated Bee Line Ferry Service at Pinellas Point in southern St. Petersburg. The

Howard Frankland Bridge opened in 1960, connecting Hillsborough County with Pinellas County.

Finally in 1962, the Pinellas Bayway connected mainland Pinellas with the beaches at its

southernmost point, and opened for more intensive development many of the “finger” fills of

land created during the dredging of Boca Ciega Bay in the 1950s.


	Despite these sprawling developments, the area’s African American population was compressed

to the areas of the Gas Plant and Methodist Town.


	The 1960s brought more public improvements to St. Petersburg, such as the construction of the

Municipal Marina, the Museum of Fine Arts, the Main Library, and the Bayfront Center. The first

desegregation of Pinellas schools occurred in 1961 when black students were admitted to St.

Petersburg Junior College, then operated by the Pinellas School Board. In 1964 a group of black

parents, along with the NAACP Legal Defense Fund, filed a suit against the School Board

demanding an end to segregated education. The suit noted that only 200 of the county's 10,000

black students were attending schools with white students. In the following year, U.S. District

Judge Joseph P. Lieb ordered the desegregation of Pinellas County schools. However, segregated

areas were still indicated on the 1967 Sanborn maps, including the nearby 1st Baptist Institutional

Church (Colored) at 3rd Avenue South and 16th Street. During this period, the district was

composed of car dealerships, finance companies and automotive repair shops.


	The early 1970s, I-275 was extended closer to the downtown area. The 1970s also saw the

beginning of St. Petersburg's quest for construction of a multi-purpose domed stadium. In July of

1986, the St. Petersburg City Council voted 6-3 to build a new baseball stadium, which later

became Tropicana Field. Construction of the stadium displaced the largely African-American

population of the area. Due to proximity to Tropicana Field’s domed stadium, the area was
	labeled "The Dome District" at this time. Redevelopment opportunities intensified after the

successful acquisition of the Tampa Bay Devil Rays Major League Baseball franchise.


	1180 Central Avenue – Smalley-Green Auto Building


	Built in 1921 by Bob C. Smalley and Tom

G. Green, the Smalley-Green Auto

Building was constructed as an electrical

service station that specialized in

automobile electrical equipment.

Designed by local architect William S.

Shull, the building was constructed with

a “Spanish architectural idea.”2 Shull was

a young and upcoming architect, who

supervised the building of the Alexander

Hotel (535 Central Avenue) and designed

the Rutland Estate (5030 Sunrise Drive

South). Unfortunately, he died in 1922 in

an automobile accident.3 The structure

was built by contractor Charles Du Bois,

who declared, “I believe I have built for the Smalley-Green Company the most attractive

exclusively electrical service station in the south. Their building and equipment is a credit to St.

Petersburg.”4


	Figure 7: Undated photograph of 1180 Central Avenue.
	Figure 7: Undated photograph of 1180 Central Avenue.
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	Figure
	2 “New Electric Firm Formed,” St. Petersburg Times, October 27, 1921.


	2 “New Electric Firm Formed,” St. Petersburg Times, October 27, 1921.


	3 “Burn Signs Affidavit,” St. Petersburg Times, August 26, 1922.


	4 “We Beg to Announce the Opening of the Smalley-Green Company,” St. Petersburg Times, December 18, 1921.


	5 “New Electric Firm Formed,” St. Petersburg Times, October 27, 1921.


	“Bob C. Smalley is One of the Pioneers in the Field,” St. Petersburg Times, December 20, 1925.


	6 “We Do It All,” St. Petersburg Times, November 16, 1919.


	7 1923 Sanborn map, Sheet 1.


	8 “No Closed Car Offers Finer Luxury,” St. Petersburg Times, November 12, 1922.



	Former schoolmates, Smalley and Green formed the Smalley-Green Company in 1921. Smalley

had a background in real estate, having been in development with Perry Snell and Green had the

background in electrical work.5 They selected an area just west of a burgeoning automotive

center at 9th Street and Central Avenue. By 1923, the few buildings on the 1100, 1200, and 1300

block of Central Avenue were primarily auto-focused enterprises. 1200 Central Avenue was used

as an automobile painting shop.6 1101 Central Avenue was a battery service station, and 1300

Central Avenue was an automobile garage.7 Soon after opening in 1921, Smalley-Green Company

expanded their services to sell automobiles, such as the Hupmobile.8 Their partnership was short

lived, and by 1923, the Bob C. Smalley Company was operating at 1180 Central Avenue.


	The Bob C. Smalley Company operated at that location until the end of 1924 when Smalley

identified 4th Street North as a potential automobile row. Considered a pioneer in the field, he

built a new automobile showroom building at 4th Street North and 18th Avenue North and


	experienced great success as 4th Street North developed after the completion of the Gandy

Bridge.9


	9 “Bob C. Smalley is One of the Pioneers in the Field,” St. Petersburg Times, December 20, 1925.
	9 “Bob C. Smalley is One of the Pioneers in the Field,” St. Petersburg Times, December 20, 1925.

	1180 Central Avenue continued to be used as various automotive purposes – a showroom,

service shop, auto glass work – until 1934 when Art Tex Paint Company began operating there.

Art Tex remained at that location until the early 1950s. For the rest of the 20th century, the

building operated as various stores and offices, such as a furniture store, gun shop, and as the

Kennedy-Johnson headquarters in 1960. Throughout the years, the building has had few physical

changes, retaining a high level of integrity.


	STAFF FINDINGS


	In St. Petersburg, eligibility for the local Register of Historic Places is based on evaluations of age,

context, and integrity under a two-part test as found in Section 16.30.070.2.5(D) of the City Code.

Historic documentation demonstrates that the subject property was built in 1921, approximately

99 years ago, surpassing the minimum required age of 50.


	Further, staff recommends listing under Criteria E and F. Staff recommends listing under the

Areas of Significance of Architecture, Community Planning and Development, and Commerce.

Staff recommends listing the subject property with a Period of Significance of 1921 through 1970.

Six of seven factors of integrity are met overall.


	Historic Significance and Satisfaction of Eligibility Criteria


	The first portion of the two-part test to determine eligibility for the St. Petersburg Register of

Historic Places examines a resource’s historic significance with relation to nine (9) criteria. One

or more of these criteria must be met in order for a property to qualify for designation as an

individual landmark or district to be placed in the St. Petersburg Register. The nine (9) criteria are

based off of the National Park Service’s criteria for placement in the National Register of Historic

Places, and are designed to assess resources’ importance in a given historic context with

objectivity and comprehensiveness. In the case of the proposed Smalley Green Auto Building,

nomination documentation suggests that the property satisfies two (2) of the St. Petersburg

Register criteria as follows.


	Is at least one of the following criteria for eligibility met?


	Is at least one of the following criteria for eligibility met?


	Is at least one of the following criteria for eligibility met?


	Is at least one of the following criteria for eligibility met?


	Is at least one of the following criteria for eligibility met?
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	E) Its value as a building is recognized for the quality of its architecture, and it retains sufficient

elements showing its architectural significance;


	As noted above, the subject property contains a unique blend of architectural styles – Italian and

Spanish Revival with elements of Art Deco. The building was designed by an up-and-coming

architect, William S. Shull, whose life was cut short in an automobile accident following the

completion of this structure. 1180 Central Avenue is considered to be one of the most


	architecturally interesting buildings in the Edge District.10 It was unusual for a building that was

constructed as an automotive shop to have been designed with such a high level of architectural

style and detail. The eclectic blend of these different styles and details has created a building that

has no equivalent in terms of architectural style.


	10 Corbett, Laura Lee. “Historic Structures Survey of the Edge District, St. Petersburg, Florida.” Prepared for the

Florida Division of Historical Resources. 2016. Page 20.
	10 Corbett, Laura Lee. “Historic Structures Survey of the Edge District, St. Petersburg, Florida.” Prepared for the

Florida Division of Historical Resources. 2016. Page 20.

	The building still retains much of its original fabric and design, such as the storefront system, the

mansard roof, with its decorative brackets and highly ornate stucco details, such as the textured

egg and dart molding and dentil molding.


	F) It has distinguishing characteristics of an architectural style valuable for the study of a period,

method of construction, or use of indigenous materials;


	As noted, the subject property was constructed in an eclectic blend of Italian and Spanish Revival

and Art Deco architecture. The structure represents 1920s Florida Land Boom era development

and demonstrates a very unique blend of the Mediterranean style of architecture that was

commonly utilized during this period.


	Historic Integrity


	Per St. Petersburg’s Code of Ordinances’ Historic and Archaeological Preservation Overlay,

Section 16.30.070.2.5, seven factors of integrity shall be considered once an individual resource

or district is determined to meet one or more of the criteria for historic significance. However,

because of their subjective nature, integrity of feeling and association, without meeting at least

one other factor, are insufficient for designation. As shown below, the property meets six of the

seven factors of integrity.


	Is at least one of the following factors of integrity met?


	Is at least one of the following factors of integrity met?


	Is at least one of the following factors of integrity met?


	Is at least one of the following factors of integrity met?


	Is at least one of the following factors of integrity met?
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	The building retains a high level of integrity. The single area in which integrity has been somewhat

diminished is Association; this is due to the fact that the property is no longer used as an

automotive-centric shop. By 1934, the building was operating as a paint store and remained in

that use for almost two decades. From the 1950s to today, the building served as various retail

stores and office spaces. In the past few months, the building was converted into a restaurant.


	PROPERTY OWNER CONSENT AND IMPACT OF DESIGNATION


	The proposed local landmark designation was submitted and is supported by the subject

property’s owner.


	The benefits of designation include increased heritage tourism through the maintenance of the

historic character and significance of the city, some relief from the requirements of the Florida


	Building Code and FEMA regulations, and tax incentives, such as the local ad valorem tax

exemption and federal tax credit for qualified rehabilitation projects.


	CONSISTENCY WITH ST. PETERSBURG’S COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, EXISTING LAND USE PLAN, AND

FUTURE LAND USE PLAN


	The proposed local historic landmark designation is consistent with the City’s Comprehensive

Plan, relating to the protection, use and adaptive reuse of historic buildings. The local landmark

designation will not affect the Future Land Use Map (FLUM) or zoning designations, nor will it

significantly constrain any existing or future plans for the development of the City. The proposed

landmark designation is consistent with the following objectives:


	Objective LU10: The historic resources locally designated by the St. Petersburg City Council and

Community Planning and Preservation Commission (CPPC) shall be

incorporated onto the Land Use Map or map series at the time of original

adoption, or through the amendment process, and protected from

development and redevelopment activities consistent with the provisions of

the Historic Preservation Element and the Historic Preservation Ordinance.


	Policy LU10.1: Decisions regarding the designation of historic resources shall be based on the

criteria and policies outlined in the Historic Preservation Ordinance and the

Historic Preservation Element of the Comprehensive Plan.


	Policy HP2.3: The City shall provide technical assistance to applications for designation of

historic structures and districts.


	Policy HP2.6: Decisions regarding the designation of historic resources shall be based on

National Register eligibility criteria and policies outlined in the Historic

Preservation Ordinance and the Comprehensive Plan. The City will use the

following selection criteria [for City-initiated landmark designations] as a

guideline for Staff recommendations to the CPC and City Council:


	• National Register or DOE status


	• Prominence/importance related to the City


	• Prominence/importance related to the neighborhood


	• Degree of threat to the landmark


	• Condition of the landmark


	• Degree of owner support


	RECOMMENDATION


	Staff recommends approval to add the Smalley-Green Auto Building to the St. Petersburg

Register of Historic Places, thereby referring the application of City Council for first and second

reading and public hearing.
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